Elements of Governance®

Providing CEOs, board chairs, directors, and support staff with the fundamentals of healthcare governance

A SERIES BY THE GOVERNANCE INSTITUTE

Building a Comprehensive Board Orientation Program

SECOND EDITION







The Governance Institute®

The essential resource for governance knowledge and solutions[®]

1245 Q Street, Lincoln, NE 68508 (877) 712-8778 GovernanceInstitute.com

Elements of Governance®

A SERIES BY THE GOVERNANCE INSTITUTE

Elements of Governance[®] is designed to provide CEOs, board chairs, directors, and support staff with the fundamentals of not-for-profit governance. These comprehensive and concise governance guides offer quick answers, guidelines, and templates that can be adapted to meet your board's individual needs. Whether you are a new or experienced leader, the *Elements of Governance*[®] series will help supply you and your board with a solid foundation for quality board work.

About the Author

Kathryn C. Peisert, Managing Editor of The Governance Institute, oversees The Governance Institute's resource library; develops the education agenda and programs for conferences, Webinars, and E-Learning; and researches recommended board practices and key governance issues for U.S. healthcare organizations. She leads the development, analysis, and reporting of The Governance Institute's biennial survey of U.S. hospital and health system governance structure, culture, and practices.

Prior to coming to The Governance Institute, she served as Permissions and Copyright Editor for Roxbury Publishing in Los Angeles, CA, now a division of Oxford University Press.

She has authored articles in *Health Affairs, Journal of Health & Life Sciences Law, Prescriptions for Excellence in Health Care,* and *Healthcare Executive,* as well as numerous publications for TGI. She authored the chapter "Governance for Quality" in the 4th edition of *The Health Care Quality Book: Vision, Strategy, and Tools* (April 2019; ed. Nash, Joshi, Ransom, and Ransom). Most recently, she was a contributor in the recently published book, *Patient No Longer: Why Healthcare Must Deliver the Care Experience that Consumers Want and Expect* (Donohue and Klasko, Health Administration Press, 2020).

Kathryn is a member of the American College of Healthcare Executives and the American Health Law Association. She has a bachelor's degree in communication studies from UCLA and a master's degree from Boston University.

The Governance Institute

The Governance Institute provides trusted, independent information, resources, tools, and solutions to board members, healthcare executives, and physician leaders in support of their efforts to lead and govern their organizations.

The Governance Institute is a membership organization serving not-for-profit hospital and health system boards of directors, executives, and physician leadership. Membership services are provided through research and publications, conferences, and advisory services. In addition to its membership services, The Governance Institute conducts research studies, tracks healthcare industry trends, and showcases governance practices of leading healthcare boards across the country.



The Governance Institute®

The essential resource for governance knowledge and solutions® 1245 Q Street, Lincoln, NE 68508 (877) 712-8778

- GovernanceInstitute.com
- in /The Governance Institute
- /thegovinstitute

Jona Raasch Chief Executive Officer
Cynthia Ballow Vice President, Operations
Kathryn C. Peisert Managing Editor
Glenn Kramer Creative Director
Kayla Wagner Senior Editor
Aliya Flores Editor

he Governance Institute is a service of NRC Health. Leading in the field of healthcare governance since 1986, The Governance Institute provides education and information services to hospital and health system boards of directors across the country. For more information about our services, please call toll free at (877) 712-8778, or visit our Web site at GovernanceInstitute.com.

The Governance Institute endeavors to ensure the accuracy of the information it provides to its members. This publication contains data obtained from multiple sources, and The Governance Institute cannot guarantee the accuracy of the information or its analysis in all cases. The Governance Institute is not involved in representation of clinical, legal, accounting, or other professional services. Its publications should not be construed as professional advice based on any specific set of facts or circumstances. Ideas or opinions expressed remain the responsibility of the named author(s). In regards to matters that involve clinical practice and direct patient treatment, members are advised to consult with their medical staffs and senior management, or other appropriate professionals, prior to implementing any changes based on this publication. The Governance Institute is not responsible for any claims or losses that may arise from any errors or omissions in our publications whether caused by The Governance Institute or its sources.

© 2021 The Governance Institute. All rights reserved. Reproduction of this publication in whole or part is expressly forbidden without prior written consent.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction

2 Start with the Basics

- 2 Time Commitment
- 2 Mission, Vision, and Values
- 2 Board Packet
- 2 Board Structure
- 3 Board Bylaws
- 3 Management vs. Governance
- 3 Organization Overview
- 4 Industry Overview

5 Board Roles and Responsibilities

- 5 Fiduciary Duties
- 6 Conflict of Interest
- 6 Core Responsibilities
- 8 Ask the Tough Questions

10 How to Structure and Conduct the Orientation

- 11 Use the Buddy System
- 11 Do "Rounds"
- 11 Ongoing Education

12 Conclusion

13 New Board Member Kit

Introduction

oday's healthcare boards are made up of individuals faced with an enormously challenging job with ever growing responsibilities. It is imperative that new board members have a comprehensive orientation to maximize their engagement and effectiveness, while minimizing the amount of time it takes to get "up to speed." Most board members face a short three-year term and, with the highly advanced concepts in quality, financial, and management oversight, strategy, and community benefit/advocacy, among others, board members need to understand in order to fully participate, the quicker they should become experts in non-profit healthcare governance.

New board members often expect they should contribute to the discussion when the topic overlaps with their own area of expertise (i.e., finance), but during other discussions such as quality or strategy, they assume they aren't expected to participate to the same degree as the "quality experts" or "strategy experts" on the board. Seasoned board members realize how their individual participation in *every* discussion affects the board's performance as a whole. New board members should have a full understanding of the time commitment it takes to do their job and make any necessary changes to be able to commit to the position's needs. Though most board members serve on a voluntary basis (i.e., uncompensated), this job is as serious, if not more, than any other job a board member will take on in life.

While nothing is as effective as on-the-job training, a strong orientation is the best way to start. You want your newest member of the team to be armed with knowledge, tools, and most importantly, motivation to make a difference. Whether you start new board members off with a board retreat, conduct a series of orientation sessions, or use the "buddy system," this Elements of Governance[®] will provide the information you need to build your own comprehensive orientation program. You can and should tailor the program based on the individual board member's previous experience and expertise; for example, if the board member has already sat on a non-profit board, you can minimize the discussion of non-profit governance in general, and focus more time on healthcare governance specifically.

This guide is intended to help you determine which topics to include in your program and then how to conduct the orientation; it does not go into detail regarding the actual substance of the orientation. Look to the Resources section for a list of publications that will provide detailed information you might need for your orientation program; they also serve as great resources for your new board member.

Start with the Basics

Time Commitment

In the beginning, it is critical to make absolutely clear the time commitment required of a board member in your organization. Often board members are unclear of this issue when they sign on to do the job. Without this clarity, the board member will likely fail. Do everything to ensure that the board member knows and understands the time commitment and the importance of that board member's attendance at meetings. Remember, the board cannot make decisions except during meetings, and if the board members aren't there, the board can't meet. Additionally, a board member who has not sufficiently reviewed the board packet *before* meetings can't participate in discussions, or will ask questions that were already covered in the packet, taking up valuable time that could be spent on vital agenda items.

Mission, Vision, and Values

Once you have the time commitment clear, a great place to start with are those aspects that make your organization unique: its mission, vision, and values. The new board member should understand how his or her role relates to the organization's mission, vision, and values, and how every decision the board makes should further the organization's mission. This is the purpose, the answer to the "whys"—the reason the board member's job exists.

Board Packet

Next, review what is included in the board packet: key contact information, the board calendar, meeting agendas, meeting minutes, pre-meeting individual preparation, and so forth. During this part of the orientation it is a good idea to go over any industry periodicals, publications, and other resources the board member should be familiar with, and give them a rough idea of how much further reading material most board members should get through before meetings.

Board Structure

Fully explain the board/committee structure, including the board's job description, committee charters, and the individual board member job description. Providing a

board structure map or outline might be helpful, depending on the complexity of your board/committee structure, and be sure to emphasize *how* the committees work, and how their decision-making powers (if any) relate to the full board's decision making. Review system/subsidiary board structure and allocation of responsibilities, if applicable. If your hospital has a separate foundation, include the foundation's role, responsibilities, and current projects in the governance structure section of the orientation.



It is often quite helpful to involve the new board member in a committee right away. If it is not already decided, discuss with the board member during the orientation the purposes and responsibilities of each committee and determine with the board member which committee would be best for a first assignment. Many boards assign a committee rotation schedule for the board member's first year (e.g., first three months on the quality committee, the next three months on the finance committee, three months on the strategic planning committee, and then three months on the governance/nominating committee). Then, based on the board member's experience, the board chair can set committee assignments for the second year of the board member's term.

Board Bylaws

Thoroughly review your board's articles of incorporation, bylaws, policies and procedures, and code of conduct. These documents can be long and cumbersome, so be sure to highlight those policies and bylaws with which the board member should be most familiar (such as the conflict-of-interest policy, which is discussed in further detail below), and indicate those the board member can refer to later and on an as-needed basis.

Keep in mind that the amount of information new board members review can be overwhelming. The pace of the orientation program (including follow up and ongoing assistance) will determine the success of the program. A discussion of how to structure the program can be found on page 10.

Management vs. Governance

The new board member should understand the role of the board as it pertains to the organization's leadership as a whole. Discuss the role of the board chair and CEO, as well as the distinction between board and management responsibilities. Explain the "rules of the road," including that the CEO answers to the board, and the board is responsible for hiring and firing the CEO as well as evaluating the CEO's performance. Review the responsibilities of the board chair, illuminating the differences between a regular board member's responsibilities and those of the board chair. And discuss the fine line between management and governance, being careful to provide clear examples of each and emphasizing that the board is responsible for oversight, while management is in charge of operations. Explain to the board member issues or problems that can arise when the board crosses this line.

Organization Overview

Include an overview of the organization itself: what services your hospital provides, areas of specialization, the size of the medical staff, how many employees the organization has, what parts of the community the hospital serves, major competitors in the area, community outreach activities, hospital—physician ventures, and so forth. Is the hospital a critical access hospital? If so, the board member must know what that means and how that affects the board's decision making. Is the organization located in a CON state? Is your organization a district hospital with an appointed board? Anything and everything that makes your organization unique.

Industry Overview

Finally, a brief industry overview can be quite helpful in bringing new board members up to speed. There is so much going on in the current regulatory environment and the board member should be updated not only on the challenges in insurance coverage and reimbursement, tax-exempt status challenges, healthcare financing, and quality of care campaigns, but also on legal/compliance issues that can trickle down to the individual board member. Important topics to include are:

- CMS "never events" and quality core measures; Joint Commission standards and new accreditation requirements
- Changing reimbursement: Medicare, value-based payment programs, private insurance companies
- National quality and patient safety campaigns, including activities of the Institute for Healthcare Improvement, LeapFrog, Baldrige, the Institute of Medicine, and your state's hospital association
- High-profile legal cases in the news regarding tax-exempt status challenges, excessive CEO compensation, and conflicts of interest
- New digital healthcare technology and how it might affect board decisions
- Bond ratings and hospital financing/volatile market issues
- Care transformation/innovation and competitive disruptors
- Consumerism
- Post-pandemic governance

Board Roles and Responsibilities

nce the board member has absorbed the background information presented above, it is time to address the actual work of the board: board roles, fiduciary duties, and core responsibilities.

Board roles are the "how" of governance—the things the board needs to do: 1) policy formulation, 2) decision making, and 3) oversight. Each should be explained in detail, within the context of how your board does its work, providing relevant examples.

Fiduciary Duties

The new board member should gain a strong understanding of the fundamental fiduciary duties of care, loyalty, and obedience. This part of the orientation should be given priority attention. Emphasize that these are the board's *legally mandated* duties and they cover much more than protecting the financial health of the organization.

Fiduciary Duties: Quick Review

Fiduciary: To hold something in trust for another; to assume responsibility or ownership of property to keep, use, or administer for another's benefit. It encompasses *all* oversight responsibilities of the board, not just financial.

Duty of Care: requires board members to have knowledge of all reasonably available and pertinent information before taking action. The board member must act in good faith, with the care of an ordinarily prudent businessperson in similar circumstances, and in a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the best interest of the organization.

Duty of Loyalty: requires board members to candidly discharge their duties in a manner designed to benefit only the corporate enterprise, not the individual interests of the board member. It incorporates the duty to disclose situations that may present a potential for conflict with the corporation's mission, refrain from discussing confidential board business with others, as well as a duty to avoid competition with the corporation.

Duty of Obedience: requires board members to ensure that the organization's decisions and activities adhere to its fundamental purpose and charitable mission as stated in its articles of incorporation and bylaws.

Conflict of Interest

Conflict of interest falls under the duty of loyalty (thus, it is a *legally mandated* responsibility of boards to handle conflicts appropriately). Conflicts in non-profit governance have been in the public eye due to lack of oversight on the part of some non-profit boards. Most board members have some form of conflict, and it must be handled in a strict, careful manner (with supporting documentation) in order to be compliant with regulations. The new board member should review the organization's conflict-of-interest policy carefully, with the board chair or CEO present to allow discussion and questions. The new member should complete a conflict-of-interest disclosure statement (all board members should do this annually). Ask the board member frank questions about how he or she would handle a situation in which a conflict arises. Be sure the board member knows when/how to announce the conflict and recuse himself/herself from the discussion and/or vote. Also be sure the board member is aware of who is responsible for making the conflict known if the board member himself does not (usually the board chair).

Finally, review your organization's definitions of an independent director and disabling guidelines, so the board member is fully aware of his/her limitations in business ventures directly related to or competing with the organization. This cannot be emphasized enough: when there is a conflict that is not handled appropriately, the organization is at risk. Provide the new board member ample information in this area.

Core Responsibilities

Oversight is central to everything boards do: monitoring decisions and actions to ensure they conform to board policy, strategic plans, and budgets, and ensuring that decisions produce intended results. The new board member should understand this oversight role. The following is a brief summary of key items to include in the orientation under each area of oversight.

Financial Oversight

Review with the board member key board decisions and actions under financial oversight, such as financial objectives relating to board goals and the organization's mission, developing budgets, and the annual auditing process. Review financial reports that the board receives, including:

- Activity statistics
- The income statement (or statement of revenue and expenses)
- The balance sheet
- The statement of sources and uses of cash
- The financial scorecard/dashboard report

Quality Oversight

It is important to stress to the new board member that discussions on quality of care deserve equal weight as financial discussions on the board meeting agenda. Review the following:

- Any quality improvement initiatives your organization is currently involved in
- Recent sentinel events (if any) and how the board handled the situation; what the board/management team/medical staff is doing to ensure that sentinel events don't occur in the future
- CMS core measures and Joint Commission quality standards
- The credentialing process and the board's role in credentialing
- The quality scorecard/dashboard report

The new board member might ask a question such as, "I'm a banker—how can I be responsible for quality of care in my organization?" The board member does not need to have knowledge of clinical care delivery in order to be an effective steward of quality of care. Show the board member examples of how the board responds to quality scores that are below expectations or unexpected mortalities, and give the board member a list of questions he/she can ask the chief of staff/CMO/VPMA during the board meeting if there is any uncertainty about events that have taken place or lack of change in quality indicators.

Setting Strategic Direction

This is where the organization's mission, vision, and values come in. The board member should be aware of how the strategic plan furthers the organization's mission and vision, and how it corresponds with the organization's values. Explain the strategic planning process and demonstrate how the new board member should be involved. Important items to include in this portion of the orientation are:

- The organization's history of strategic planning: what has worked, what hasn't worked, how the mission has changed over the years
- The organization's strengths and weaknesses
- External opportunities and threats (competitors, market dynamics, hospital– physician ventures, etc.)
- The connection between the strategic plan and financial/capital plans
- Long-term vs. short-term planning
- How the board tracks changes in the strategic plan/direction

Board Self-Assessment and Development

The new board member should understand his/her role in assessing the board's own performance, and be aware that the board is responsible for its own development, job design, discipline, and performance. Include in the discussion:

- The board self-assessment process: what tool is used, how often it is conducted, what the board does with its results, and the importance of the individual board member's participation in this process
- The board development plan
- Educational activities of the board
- The process for assessing individual directors, reappointment criteria, and board leadership succession planning

Management Oversight

As discussed earlier, explain to the new board member the leadership hierarchy of the organization and how the board fits into that. Include in this discussion:

- The board's responsibility for recruiting and selecting the CEO, and maintaining a current, written succession plan for the CEO and other critical members of the C-suite
- The CEO performance evaluation: how it is conducted, who is responsible for conducting it, and how the CEO's goals (against which performance is evaluated) are determined
- The board's responsibility in approving the CEO's and other top executives' compensation and benefits
- Terminating the CEO if the need arises

Community Benefit/Advocacy

Community benefit/advocacy is the board responsibility that is perhaps most difficult to define, but an important part of the board's role. This topic is not limited to fundraising and philanthropy; it includes involvement in public policy initiatives, conducting community health needs assessments, and acting as an advocate for the organization and its stakeholders (employees, doctors, nurses, patients, and the community). Share with the new board member:

- Community benefit policies
- Current activities in this area
- The organization's advocacy goals
- Any plans for future activities

Ask the board member how he or she would like to be involved, and find ways of leveraging that board member's relationships with key leaders in the community—this is a great way to get the new board member engaged and motivated.

Ask the Tough Questions

The key to board member success is arming him/her with pointed questions that draw out the pertinent discussions and force the board and management to fully address difficult issues. Accountability is the key word here. New board members should learn quickly how to ask questions that hold themselves and the management team accountable for accomplishing goals and responsibilities.

One of the key questions the Institute for Improvement introduced during its 100,000 Lives Campaign is, "How much, by when?" That is, to ask not just "where are we now and where do we want to be" on critical quality indicators, but to take it a step further—to make sure the board knows and expects from management how much the indicators will improve, that the board gives management concrete deadlines for when to accomplish these goals, and that management knows the consequences of not attaining those goals. This question can be asked not only for quality goals and indicators, but financial goals as well—essentially, for anything that is being measured, the board should know "how much, by when."

The credentialing process is key to the board's quality oversight role. Rather than blindly accepting credentialing applicants the MEC has recommended, the board needs to know why the MEC is recommending them, and for those physicians who have had quality of care incidents, board members should ask what happened and what actions have been taken with that physician to ensure the incidents won't happen again. The board should be fully aware of how the credentialing process works and for what it should hold the MEC accountable in this area.

¹ See Tom Nolan, IHI Senior Fellow, "Executing for System-Level Results, Part 3," available at Institute for Healthcare Improvement.

Guides for Getting at the Right Questions

It can be challenging to know when to ask questions and what questions to raise. Our templates for "getting at the right questions" for the quality and finance committees can be helpful in this area. See some sample questions below and view the full templates at www.GovernanceInstitute.com/board-committee-charters.

Finance:

- How do we effectively oversee the financial plans and results of joint ventures, acquisitions, and other strategic arrangements of the hospital/ health system and its subsidiaries? How will these plans and results affect the hospital/health system as a whole?
- What do we need to know before we receive, review, and make recommendations to the board regarding the annual operating and capital budgets and all other fiscal budgetary matters affecting the hospital/health system and its subsidiary corporations? How do we ensure that we understand all of the factors affecting annual budgets? How do we ensure no important items are being left out of the annual budget?
- How should we advise the board on the financing of any long-range plans (e.g., debt strategy)? How can we ensure that we have all the information we need before we advise the board?

Quality:

- How do we effectively oversee patient care, clinical quality, patient safety, and experience (of patients, physicians, nurses, employees, and payers) for the hospital/all entities in the hospital or health system? How will our oversight ultimately affect the patient experience?
- How do we effectively set hospital/system-wide quality goals, parameters, and metrics? Why are these important? What kind of results are we hoping to see from this data?
- How do we appropriately work with the medical staff to set criteria and processes for credentialing and ongoing quality monitoring of clinicians?

How to Structure and Conduct the Orientation

s demonstrated above, the information a new board member absorbs in an orientation program is vast and, most likely, one session won't do the job. Multiple, shorter sessions that break the information down into manageable parts can be more effective. Provide plenty of handouts and supporting materials for the new board member to refer to on his/her own, and an ongoing venue for the board member to ask questions. The following is an example of how one might structure the orientation program, using a one-on-one or small-group discussion format in a series of manageable, one-hour sessions (although the last session might require more time). Keep in mind that these sessions are meant to be an overview, and the board member will need follow up opportunities for education on an ongoing basis.

Sample Curriculum/Structure of an Orientation Program

Session 1: Introduction to the Position and the Organization

- Mission, vision, and values
- Organization overview
- Industry overview
- Current projects the organization is involved in (related to quality improvement, accreditation, facilities planning, strategic planning, clinical integration, philanthropic activities, community involvement, national award recognitions, and so forth)
- Q&A

Session 2: Board Administrative Issues

- Quick review of Session 1; address any further questions
- Governance structure (including board job descriptions and committee charters)
- Board packets
- Board meeting agendas, consent agendas, and how meetings are run
- Board bylaws, policies, and procedures
- Management vs. governance
- Q&A

Session 3: Board Duties, Roles, and Responsibilities

- Quick review of Session 2; address any further questions
- Fiduciary duties
- Conflicts of interest
- Core responsibilities
- Ask the tough questions
- Q&A

Beyond presenting the orientation information in small-group or one-on-one sessions, there are a few ways to further ensure that new board members receive the ongoing support they need in order to succeed.

Use the Buddy System

Many organizations pair up a new board member with a seasoned board member, to act as his/her "buddy" for the entire first year of the term (this is also known as mentoring). The new board member can meet with the buddy/mentor anytime to ask questions, share concerns, and discuss anything in further detail outside of board meetings. This helps not only to enhance the new board member's knowledge and understanding, but also ensures that the board member is involved and engaged right from the start.

Do "Rounds"

A powerful way to engage the board member and show him/her the true mission of the organization is to physically introduce the board member to the facility and meet the doctors, patients, and management team. One member organization sends board members on morning rounds with physicians to observe care delivery. Beyond giving the board member a clearer picture of how the organization operates, it increases visibility of the board throughout the organization and sets a tone from the top that the board is involved in (and responsible for) the organization's success.

Ongoing Education

Once the board member has completed the orientation program, it is key to provide further, ongoing education activities. Take advantage of programs geared specifically to hospital and health system boards.

Bring in expert consultants and facilitators to conduct educational sessions during board meetings or retreats. Governance Institute advisors are available to provide facilitation and consultation around everything from board education to self-assessment consultation to cultivating strategic plans. This can be particularly effective if your board is tackling a complex issue and needs to have a wider or outside-the-box perspective. Set aside time during a meeting to discuss a publication on a topic in which the board may be particularly interested, or one that presents an area of weakness for the board.

The Governance Institute has developed E-Learning courses for board members to review on an ongoing basis, either to test their knowledge or remind them of the keys to effective governance. (See the Resources section for publications and online tools provided by The Governance Institute.)

Boosting the Orientation's Effectiveness

How much time is enough time? Some boards have a four-hour program, but we hear more and more from members that this is just not enough time. A good solution is to break it up into more frequent and shorter sessions—perhaps an initial session of four hours, with two-hour check ups over the first year. This can include:

- Regular one-on-one sessions with the board chair and CEO (separately)
- Board mentor briefings and de-briefings
- Committee rotation during the first year
- A thorough tour of the hospital (depending on the size of the hospital, plan on four hours for the tour, ideally on a different day than the initial orientation session)

Conclusion

ith a strong orientation program using the information presented above, the newest member of the team will be armed with knowledge, tools, and motivation to make a difference. You will greatly enhance the board member's chances of success in becoming an effective part of the governance team, and therefore enhance the likelihood that they will stay on and develop further with the organization over time.

Remember to tailor the program to the individual board member's experience and expertise. And finally, find a way to make the program fun. When board members have an environment that promotes the development of lasting relationships with their colleagues and hospital staff, the board becomes vested in the future of the organization—which will result in an engaged, knowledgeable, passionate, and effective board.

New Board Member Kit

his collection of online resources focuses on what the new board member needs to know to get a head start on being an effective director.

Board Orientation Resources:

- » Board Orientation Manual, Sixth Edition
- » On Board!: An Orientation to Healthcare Governance
- » Board Orientation Online Course
- » Board Orientation: Why Is It So Important?
- » Board Job Descriptions & Committee Charters, Third Edition
- » Board Self-Assessment: A Core Responsibility, Second Edition
- » Healthcare Acronyms & Terms for Boards and Medical Leaders, 11th Edition

Fiduciary Duties:

- » Board Basics: A Toolbook for Healthcare Boards and Executives
- » New Focus on the Corporate Purpose of the Health System
- » Where Was the (Health System) Board?

• Governance vs. Management:

» The Distinction between Management and Governance, 2nd Edition

Committees:

- » Board Committees, Second Edition
- » Worksheet: Committee Meetings

Quality Oversight:

- » The Board's Role in Quality, Second Edition
- » The MUST Dos for Excellent Governance of Quality
- » The Definitive Quality Dashboard

Financial Oversight:

- » Hospital Accounting and Finance, Fourth Edition
- » Focus on Finance: 10 Critical Issues for Healthcare Leadership, Second Edition

Setting Strategic Direction:

- » Setting Strategic Direction: A Toolbook for Healthcare Boards and Executives
- » Accelerating Value with Two-Sided Risk

Management Oversight:

- » CEO Performance Evaluation in the New Healthcare Industry, Third Edition
- » Succession Planning, Third Edition

Community Benefit/Advocacy:

- » Community Health, Second Edition
- » Outside the Hospital: Partnering with Communities to Expand the Mission

Board Development/Effectiveness:

- » Board Education and Development
- » Building a More Diverse Board: A Toolbook for Healthcare Boards and Executives

- System-Specific Governance:
 - » Restructuring Governance for the New Healthcare Environment: The Evolution of System Governance and Development of Best Practices
 - » System Governance Structure: A Resource for System Boards
 - » Onboarding Curriculum for Subsidiary Board Members Utilizing Governance Institute Resources